IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF IN 20 20 15 A03:32 p.m.

Electronically Filed

OEt X9 X0 X15 A03:32 p.m.

Tracie K. Lindeman

Clark of Supreme Court

GILBERT JAY PALIOTTA,

Supreme Court Case No. 6664 Court

Appellant,

District Court Case No. CF 1111054

v.

STATE OF NEVADA IN RELATION TO THE NEVADA DEPARTMENT OF CORRECTIONS; AND RENEE BAKER, WARDEN,

Respondents.

APPELLANT'S REPLACEMENT OPENING BRIEF

ADAM HOSMER-HENNER (#12779)
McDONALD CARANO WILSON LLP
100 West Liberty Street, 10th Floor, Reno, Nevada 89501
Telephone: (775) 788-2000
ahosmerhenner@mcwlaw.com

Attorneys for Appellant

NRAP 26.1 DISCLOSURE STATEMENT

JURISDICTIONAL STATEMENT

This Court has jurisdiction over Appellant Gilbert Jay Paliotta's ("Paliotta") appeal pursuant to NRAP 3A(b). Paliotta has exhausted his administrative remedies pursuant to the Prison Litigation Reform Act, 42 U.S.C. § 1997(e), and he filed a timely Notice of Appeal on October 8, 2014.

STATEMENT OF THE ISSUES

- (1) Whether the District Court erred in disposing of Paliotta's RLUIPA claim based solely on the application of less stringent standards taken from distinct Free Exercise Clause jurisprudence.
- (2) Whether the District Court erred in disposing of Paliotta's Free Exercise claim by focusing on whether Paliotta's religion required a specific diet, rather than on whether Paliotta sincerely believed that the diet was consistent with his faith.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Paliotta is currently incarcerated at Ely State Prison by the Nevada Department of Corrections ("NDOC"). RA 753.¹ On November 28, 2011, Paliotta filed a civil rights complaint and demand for a jury trial with the Seventh Judicial District Court of the State of Nevada in and for the County of White Pine. RA 13. The Complaint named the State of Nevada and other individual state officers as Defendants (collectively referred to herein as the "State"). *Id.* The Complaint was filed pursuant to 42 U.S.C. § 1983 and asserted three causes of action based on RLUIPA, the First Amendment, and the Fourteenth Amendment. RA 21-24. The State answered on April 2, 2012. RA 753.

¹ Pursuant to this Court's July 31, 2015 Scheduling Order, all references are to the trial court record, which has been filed in this appeal. (RA")

Thereafter, Paliotta filed an Amended Complaint in an apparent attempt to correct certain service issues but the substance of the Amended Complaint was identical to the initial Complaint. RA 328-341.

After the parties engaged in discovery, Paliotta filed a Motion for Partial Summary Judgment on March 13, 2013. RA 273. This Motion requested that summary judgment be entered in favor of Paliotta on the First Amendment, Fourteenth Amendment, and RLUIPA claims in the Amended Complaint. RA 297. The State filed its own Motion for Summary Judgment against Paliotta's Amended Complaint on November 19, 2013. RA 665. Both motions were fully briefed and submitted to the District Court for decision by January 17, 2014. RA 750, 754.

The District Court issued an Order denying Plaintiff's Motion for Partial Summary Judgment and granting Defendants' Motion for Summary Judgment on September 30, 2014 ("Order"). RA 753. The District Court did not specify whether its analysis related to the Complaint or the Amended Complaint but this is immaterial as the two pleadings are essentially identical. Paliotta then timely appealed the Order by filing a Notice of Appeal on October 6, 2014. RA 767.

STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

Paliotta is in the custody of the Nevada Department of Corrections ("NDOC") at Ely State Prison in White Pine county. RA 753. Paliotta filed a Faith Group Affiliation Declaration Form with the NDOC in

order to officially declare his faith as Thelema. RA 427. Thelema is a recognized faith group in the NDOC Administrative Regulation 810 ("AR 810"). RA 398. AR 810 attempts to provide an overview of Thelemic practices, which it lumps together with Druid, Celtic, Pagans, Pre-Christian faith groups:

- "Diet Consideration and Fast Days: None"
- "Holy Day Observance: solstices & Equinoxes, Sumhain, Imbolc, Beltane, Lugnasash"
- "Worship Practices Personal Group: P Personal worship ritual, divination or devotion. Accommodated around normal work times. G – Outdoor-based meetings."
- "Allowable Personal Items: Henge of Keltria; 'Book of Ritual' or books acceptable under AR 750; pentacle disk; 1 sacred object pouch; 1 set of rune cards; 2 medallions, 2 inch max; 2 'Book of Shadows'; 1 altar cloth not to be in excess of 1 ½' x 2"; 1 spiritual bag no larger than 4" x 4"; 2 decks of Tarot cards; 4 talismans / amulets; 6 stones or crystals no larger than 1 ½"; 1 pendulum in stone, wood or crystal only; 1 chalice plastic [no metal, glass or ceramics]; 1 set of runes in stone or wood; 1 small bell; Prayer beads."
- "Allowable Group Items: Approved herbs/herbal teas; 1 set of rune cards; 4-6 jewelry size stones; crackers/water for ceremonial use; plastic cups and bowls for ceremonial use;

pendulum; 1 wand no longer than 8" [no metal, glass or cermaics]; 1 aluminum cauldron no larger than 6" across; 1 censer no larger than 3"; no more than 2 oz. of sea salt; 1 small bell; candles . . . one small candle holder, plastic or aluminum; one pack of matches/one lighter, one small, aluminum tea strainer."

RA 398.

From March 3, 2011, when Paliotta declared his faith group affiliation as Thelemist, RA 427, to March 13, 2013 when he filed for summary judgment, RA 297, Paliotta requested religious accommodations no fewer than fourteen times. RA 413-444. Each and every one of these reasonable requests was denied by the State. *Id.*

- March 2, 2011 Paliotta requested literature on Thelema or anything written by Aleister Crowley. RA 417. None was provided.
- March 14, 2011 Paliotta requested literature on the Ordo Templi
 Orientis, an order of Thelema. RA 418. None was provided.
- March 27, 2011 Paliotta requested follow-up on his previous informal request for a religious diet. RA 419. The State responded that it was unaware of such a request and that the prison no longer had a chaplain. RA 419.
- April 20, 2011 Paliotta requested a variety of philosophical and scientific literature. RA 420. None was provided.

- April 22, 2011 Paliotta requested a "kosher meal in accordance w/my faith" and stated that Thelema draws its principles from the ancient Egyptian religion and "the Hebrews ate the original 'kosher' meal of the Egyptians." RA 421. He also submitted a separate Inmate Religious Diet Request Form requesting to participate in the Thelemist religious diet program. RA 429. The State rejected these requests stating that "[k]osher is not listed as a diet consideration for Thelema under AR 810." *Id.*
- May 3, 2011 Paliotta requested access to the chapel in order to hold services with other Thelemists. RA 422. The State rejected this request.
- June 1, 2011 Paliotta requested the ability to celebrate the summer solstice with other "Thelemists and/or Jews and/or Wiccans" on June 20 and June 21 in accordance with his faith.
 RA 423. He also requested a Thelemic holiday meal. *Id.* The State rejected these requests.
- June 7, 2011 Paliotta repeated his request for the ability to celebrate the summer solstice and for a holiday meal. RA 424.
 The State again rejected these requests.
- June 20, 2011 Paliotta submitted an Informal Grievance outlining in detail his sincere religious belief concerning dietary restrictions. RA 431-434. Paliotta expressed his wish

- to be "placed on the kosher meal / diet in accordance with his belief & practices" but "if no kosher meal is provided, then grievant demands to be given traditional Thelemist diet/meal" that is in line with the Ordo Templi Orientis beliefs. RA 434. The State rejected this request.
- July 25, 2011 Paliotta submitted an Informal Grievance stating that Thelema was incorrectly grouped with "Druid/Celtic/Pagans/Pre-Christian" religions and that he has been deprived "from practicing my religion" in connection with Thelema's holy days and methods of worship. RA 435-436. The State rejected this grievance.
- July 27, 2011 Paliotta submitted a Second Level Grievance concerning his request for a kosher meal. RA 438. The State denied this request because "[p]er AR 810, the [k]osher Diet is not listed as a Religious Diet consideration for Thelema." RA 440.
- September 28, 2011 Paliotta requested to speak with a practicing Thelemist and if one was not available "to be allowed to congregate in the chapel with other Thelemists."
 RA 425. The State rejected this request.
- April 21, 2012 Paliotta submitted a Request for Accommodation of Religious Practices seeking to amend AR 810 to correct its interpretation of Thelema and to add specific holy days,

religious items, and dietary requirements related to Thelema. RA 442. Paliotta stated that AR 810 incorrectly claims that Thelemists "are the same as Druids, Pagans, and Pre-Christians." RA 442. The State denied this request.

- May 20, 2012 – Paliotta submitted an Inmate Request for Recognized Holiday Service for recognition of a Thelema summer solstice. RA 444. The State denied this request at the time because "Thelema is not an NVDOC Religious Group." Id.

The response by the State on September 28, 2011 reveals the blatantly hostile attitude toward Paliotta and Thelema: "You can practice your religion in your cell." RA 425.

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

The District Court's Order contravened both RLUIPA and the First Amendment by turning the judiciary into the arbiter of what is and what is not part of an individual's religion. The State cannot assume the role of high priest, defining the correct method of religious practice and substituting a judge's interpretation of a religion for the practitioner's. Yet, this is exactly what occurred when the District Court ruled against Appellant Paliotta as it decided that his religion, Thelema, did not include the practices that Paliotta sincerely believed were part of his faith.

The District Court erroneously reduced Paliotta's varied requests for religious accommodation into a single issue concerning kosher meals. Paliotta had initially requested a traditional Egyptian diet in keeping with his Thelemic faith, along with the ability to worship in the chapel, observe the solstice, and obtain religious texts. The prison's chaplain suggested instead that Paliotta could receive kosher meals, which might be an acceptable substitute given the ties between the two religions. But even kosher meals were denied to Paliotta. Thus, the District Court unfairly punished Paliotta's reasonable acceptance of a compromise, which was itself suggested by the State.

Despite finding that there was nothing in the record to suggest that Paliotta was not sincere in his beliefs concerning a religious diet, the District Court still rejected Paliotta's request because it decided that Thelema did not require a specific or a kosher diet. This intrusive analysis is prohibited by RLUIPA and the Free Exercise Clause, which prevent courts from telling Paliotta how he should be practicing his own religion.

ARGUMENT

I. STANDARD OF REVIEW

This Court reviews a district court's grant of summary judgment de novo, without deference to the findings of the lower court. *Wood v. Safeway, Inc.* 121 Nev. 724, 731, 121 P.3d 1026, 1029 (2005). Summary judgment is proper if the pleadings and all other evidence on file demonstrate that no genuine issue of material fact exists and that the

moving party is entitled to judgment as a matter of law. *Id.* When reviewing a motion for summary judgment, the evidence, and any reasonable inferences drawn from it, must be viewed in a light most favorable to the nonmoving party. *Id.*

II. THE ORDER RELIES ENTIRELY ON THE FALSE PREMISE THAT PALIOTTA WANTED A KOSHER MEAL AS HIS FIRST CHOICE.

The District Court's focus on kosher meals and Judaism is a red herring. Paliotta alleges in his Amended Complaint that he requested a "traditional Egyptian diet that is in accordance with Plaintiff's Thelemic beliefs." RA 333; see also RA 517 (admitting, in response to a request for admission to Defendant Renee Baker, that Paliotta sought to receive a traditional Egyptian diet). The prison chaplain responded that Paliotta should "consider a [k]osher meal as a substitute." *Id.* This suggestion was perhaps made because the prison did not provide "traditional Egyptian" meals but was already serving kosher meals to some prisoners. RA 502. Accordingly, Paliotta requested, but was denied, kosher meals. As the basis for his lawsuit, he alleges that he was denied both a "traditional Egyptian diet" and a "[k]osher diet." RA 337.

Rather than construe the allegations of a pro se plaintiff liberally as is required, the State and District Court construed Paliotta's allegations in a skewed and unfair manner. See United States v. Seesing, 234 F.3d 456, 462–63 (9th Cir. 2000) (requiring liberal

construction of prisoners' pro se pleadings). Instead of giving Paliotta any benefit of the doubt, the State and District Court pigeonholed Paliotta as a non-Jew who was only seeking kosher meals. The State relied on the reductionist argument that a "kosher diet is not part of Thelema. Therefore, the First Amendment does not require Defendants to provide Plaintiff with a kosher diet." RA 671. The District Court then held that Paliotta was not entitled to a kosher diet because his request was based on "a perceived social connection to Judaism or his philosophical understanding of Judaism." RA 763. Essentially, the State pulled a bait-and-switch on Paliotta whereby he was instructed to seek a kosher diet as a partial accommodation only to be told that he could not receive that diet because it did not match his faith.

The United States Supreme Court recently decided an analogous case in favor of a prisoner's rights to religious exercise. See Holt v. Hobbs, 135 S. Ct. 853, 861 (2015). In Holt, a Muslim prisoner "sought permission to grow a beard and, although he believes that his faith requires him not to trim his beard at all, he proposed a 'compromise' under which he would grow only a ½-inch beard." Id. The prison officials denied his request based on a "compelling interest in staunching the flow of contraband into and within" the prison. Id. at 863. Ultimately, the United States Supreme Court found that "the growing of a beard" is something "which petitioner believes is a dictate of his religious faith" and therefore held that the prison's grooming

policy violated RLUIPA as it prevented the prisoner from "growing a ½-inch beard in accordance with his religious beliefs." *Id.* at 867.

The United States Supreme Court did not decide, however, that the prisoner in *Holt* had forfeited his religious rights by seeking a compromise that was not strictly in keeping with his faith. If the United States Supreme Court had applied the same flawed reasoning as the District Court, it would have rejected the prisoner's claims on the basis that a ½-inch beard was not a tenet of Islam and therefore the prisoner did not have a "sincerely held religious belief." RA 763. This conclusion would be just as preposterous with respect to Paliotta as it would have been in *Holt*.

The District Court was overly focused on language stating that Paliotta had a social or philosophical connection to Judaism. RA 763. This language was incorrectly interpreted. Paliotta was not claiming a non-religious social connection with Judaism. Instead, he argued that the two religions were intertwined and that Thelema incorporated elements of Judaism. RA 334. (stating that "the connection between Hebrew traditions and Egyptian mysticism was stronger than previously believed and even supported by many authors and Jewish scholars" and that "Thelemic tradition and practice further supported the fact he should be allowed a [k]osher meal"). Accordingly, any discussion of social and philosophical connections should be construed in the context of theology. Paliotta's language may not always have

been precise, but it is undisputed that his requests for specific diets emerged from his religious convictions.

Moreover, religions commonly incorporate aspects of other religions based on history, philosophy, or other reasons. The smorgasboard approach to religion, as disclaimed by the State is actually the development path most religions have taken. For example, "Jews for Jesus" is an evangelical missionary society "whose followers . . . believe that Jesus was the Messiah, a belief that conflicts with traditional Jewish doctrine." *Jews for Jesus, Inc. v. Jewish Cmty. Relations Council of New York, Inc.*, 968 F.2d 286, 289 (2d Cir. 1992); see also Marria v. Broaddus, No. 97 CIV.8297 NRB, 2003 WL 21782633, at *3 (S.D.N.Y. July 31, 2003) (noting that a religion called the Nation of Gods and Earths included beliefs "based on the Koran and the Bible, which serve as secondary texts"). Paliotta's religious beliefs were based on his understanding of his own religion's historical and philosophical foundations.

The entirety of the District Court's Order must therefore be reversed because it ignores the factual predicate leading up to Paliotta's lawsuit. If anything, the Order should have focused on whether Paliotta was entitled to the "traditional Egyptian diet" he originally requested. Only if that was outweighed by a compelling state interest would an analysis of whether kosher meals were an acceptable substitute be appropriate. Again, Paliotta specifically stated in his Amended

Complaint that he "could demand a traditional Egyptian diet in accordance with his beliefs but to accommodate the defendant would accept a [k]osher meal since it is already available to other prisoners." RA 339. To focus solely on whether Paliotta had a sincere religious belief concerning kosher meals is contrary to the record and misses the point of his compromise.

Additionally, Paliotta's claims were based not just on dietary issues but on several other types of requests for accommodations. RA 333-335. Although not spelled out in as much detail in his Amended Complaint, the District Court should have liberally construed the pleadings to include these factual bases. For instance, Paliotta requested religious texts, access to the chapel, and the ability to celebrate his religious holidays. *Id.* None of these requests was accommodated. Therefore, regardless of the outcome of Paliotta's dietary claims, remanding is appropriate so that the District Court can consider these other requests.

III. THE DISTRICT COURT APPLIED THE WRONG ANALYSIS FOR A RLUIPA CLAIM.

Congress passed RLUIPA in order to provide increased protection for prisoners' free exercise of religion. *See Cutter v. Wilkinson*, 544 U.S. 709, 720–21 (2005) (explaining that institutionalized persons are those in state-run "mental hospitals, prisons, and the like—in which the government exerts a degree of control unparalleled in civilian society"). While general laws in society usually do not prevent the exercise of

religion in one's own home, when the state controls every aspect of a prisoner's life including daily schedules and components of meals, the burden on religion is extreme.

RLUIPA replaced the traditional free exercise analysis in the prison context. Abdulhaseeb v. Calbone, 600 F.3d 1301, 1314 (10th Cir. 2010) ("The standards under RLUIPA are different from those under the Free Exercise Clause.") RLUIPA provides that "[n]o government shall impose a substantial burden on the religious exercise of a person residing in or confined to an institution . . . even if the burden results from a rule of general applicability," unless the government demonstrates the burden is "in furtherance of a compelling government interest" and "is the least restrictive means of furthering that compelling governmental interest." 42 U.S.C. § 2000cc-1(a). The United States Supreme Court recognized RLUIPA as "the latest of longrunning congressional efforts to accord religious exercise heightened protection from government-imposed burdens . . ." Cutter, 544 U.S. at 714. The statute itself reflects this intent, stating that it "shall be construed in favor of a broad protection of religious exercise, to the maximum extent permitted by the terms of this chapter and the Constitution." 42 U.S.C. § 2000cc-3(g).

Congress effectuated this broad intent by distinguishing RLUIPA from traditional First Amendment jurisprudence in at least two ways. First, "it expanded the reach of the protection to include any 'religious

exercise,' including 'any exercise of religion, whether or not compelled by or central to, a system of religious belief." *Greene v. Solano Cnty. Jail*, 513 F.3d 982, 986 (9th Cir. 2008) (quotations omitted). Specifically, RLUIPA "bars inquiry into whether a particular belief or practice is 'central' to a prisoner's religion." *Id.* (quotations omitted). Second, the deferential rational basis standard of *Turner v. Safley*, 482 U.S. 78, 89-90 (1987) (cited by the State) is inapplicable to RLUIPA claims. Instead, "RLUIPA requires the government to meet the much stricter burden of showing that the burden it imposes on religious exercise" is the least restrictive means of furthering a compelling government interest. *Greene*, 513 F.3d at 986.

The District Court erred by conflating the Free Exercise Clause analysis with the RLUIPA analysis, giving short shrift to the latter. Paliotta demonstrated the existence of a genuine dispute of material facts concerning his religious beliefs and in fact the District Court found that there was nothing in the record suggesting he was not sincere in his faith. RA 760. Under RLUIPA, the inquiry stops there and the District Court should not have attempted to conduct a theological inquisition into Thelema's beliefs.

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