#### IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF NEVADA

CASE NO. 66664

GILBERT JAY PALIOTTA,

Appellant,

VS.

STATE OF NEVADA IN RELATION TO THE NEVADA DEPARTMENT OF CORRECTIONS; AND RENEE BAKER, WARDEN,

Respondents.

**Electronically Filed** Dec 07 2015 08:47 a.m. Tracie K. Lindeman Clerk of Supreme Court District Court Case No.CF 1111054

#### RESPONDENTS' REPLACEMENT ANSWERING BRIEF

ADAM PAUL LAXALT Attorney General Clark G. Leslie Assistant Solicitor General Nevada Bar No. 10124 100 North Carson Street Carson City, NV 89701-4717 cleslie@ag.nv.gov Tel. (775) 684-1258 Attorneys for Respondents

# **

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

*Id.* at 25–26 *citing, in part, Yoder*, 406 U.S. at 215–16 and noting that the United States Supreme Court recognized for purposes of a First Amendment inquiry that individuals are not free to define religious beliefs solely based upon individual preference.

Guzzi referenced a similar issue in Starr v. Cox, WL 1575744 (D.N.H. June 5, 2006) (slip copy). In Starr, the court rejected an inmate's desire to practice Tai Chi as a protected religious exercise. Inmate Starr admitted he was not a believer in Taoism but, nonetheless, was challenging the prison's denial of his request to practice the physical art of Tai Chi. As with kosher meals, the Starr court correctly found that "the practice of Tai Chi, by itself, is not recognized as a religion." Starr at \*3. Tai Chi was thus not deemed an integral part of Starr's

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>12</sup> "Tai Chi is a slow movement form of art that is primarily practiced for health benefits and exercise." *Starr*, at n. 2.

religious beliefs and denying this practice would not be a substantial burden under RLUIPA. *See below*.

Thus, Paliotta cannot support a Free Exercise claim where the practice at issue is not religious in nature. Adopting another religion's dietary precepts where no historical or theological underpinning is present is not protected conduct under the First Amendment.

#### B. RLUIPA

#### (1). Applicable Law

Plaintiff brings his claim under the Religious Land Use and Institutionalized Persons Act (RLUIPA), 42 U.S.C. § 2000cc *et seq.*, which provides in relevant part:

No government shall impose a substantial burden on the religious exercise of a person residing in or confined to an institution... even if the burden results from a rule of general applicability, unless the government demonstrates that imposition of the burden on that person

- (1) is in furtherance of a compelling governmental interest; and
- (2) is the least restrictive means of furthering that compelling governmental interest.

## 42 U.S.C. § 2000cc-1(a).

"Religious exercise" is defined as "any exercise of religion, whether or not compelled by, or central to, a system of religious belief." 42 U.S.C. § 2000cc-

5(7)(A). "A person may assert a violation of [RLUIPA] as a claim or defense in a judicial proceeding and obtain appropriate relief against a government." 42 U.S.C. § 2000cc-2(a).

The Ninth Circuit has set out four factors for the RLUIPA analysis: (1) what "exercise of religion" is at issue; (2) whether there is a "burden," if any, imposed on that exercise of religion; (3) if there is a burden, whether it is "substantial;" and (4) if there is a "substantial burden," whether it is justified by a compelling governmental interest and is the least restrictive means of furthering that compelling interest. *Navajo Nation v. U.S. Forest Serv.*, 479 F.3d 1024, 1033 (9th Cir. 2007), *aff'd en banc*, 535 F.3d 1058, 1068 (9th Cir. 2008).

To establish an RLUIPA violation, the plaintiff bears the initial burden to prove that the defendants' conduct places a "substantial burden" on his "religious exercise." *Warsoldier v. Woodford*, 418 F.3d 989, 994 (9th Cir. 2005). Once the plaintiff establishes a substantial burden defendants must prove that the burden both furthers a compelling governmental interest and is the least restrictive means of achieving that interest. *Warsoldier*, 418 F.3d at 995.

## (2) Paliotta Has Not Met His Burden Under RLUIPA

Paliotta is incorrect when he argues that once his sincerity was determined by the District Court that the only inquiry remaining was whether State could meet its burden to show the prison's dietary regulations were the least restrictive means of fulfilling a compelling state interest. As stated by the Ninth Circuit in *Navajo Nation*, the first question asked is "what exercise of religion is at issue?" This includes asking not just if Paliotta is a 'true believer' in Thelema but also if the requested religious accommodation is also "sincere" as opposed to a personal preference not rooted in religion.

Even if the answer is in the affirmative in relation to the requested accommodation the analysis is not complete and sufficient to shift the burden to the prison until the plaintiff also establishes that the deprivation of the accommodation would constitute a *substantial burden upon the exercise of the adherent's religious beliefs*. Here, Paliotta fails to even marginally meet his burden to establish the first element of a prima facie case under RLUIPA. The question is: how can the denial of a kosher meal be a *substantial burden* to a Thelemic believer who is legally denied the express dietary dictates of the founder of Thelema, to wit, rich foods and frothy ale?

RLUIPA asks the following questions of a religious worshiper who has been denied a dietary accommodation: why and how does a kosher meal fulfill any of the precepts of Thelema? How does any dietary deprivation cause Paliotta to modify his behavior and violate his religious beliefs?

The Biblical books of Leviticus and Deuteronomy offer the guidelines for kosher food. Kosher rules preclude the believer from eating meat with blood in it

and the slaughter of the animal for this purpose must drain off all the blood in the food to be prepared; these rules also do not permit the mixing of unclean food with the kosher meal being prepared. Only meats from kosher animals (those that chew the cud and have divided hooves such as cows, goats, sheep, etc.) are allowed for consumption.

Kosher fowl is limited to those that are not birds of prey (*e.g.*, chickens, turkeys, duck, geese, etc.). Kosher sea food is limited to fish with scales and fins – no lobster, crab or any shellfish.

All vegetables and fruit are kosher if picked after the fourth year the tree is in existence. Cooking utensils must be kept separate from those used in the preparation of non-kosher foods. There cannot be any contact between dairy and meat foods. Food cannot be prepared by 'lighting a fire,' thus, eggs are steamed not boiled.

Jewish practitioners believe that God entered into a covenant with the Jewish people and provided the Torah for guidance; this relationship obligates Jews to uphold and fulfill its commandments. Kosher laws are part of that covenant.<sup>13</sup> There is no parallel offered by Paliotta to suggest any such obligation of a Thelemic believer to adhere to a dietary regimen. In fact, the "do as thou wilt"

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>13</sup> See e.g., www.aish.com/jl/m/mm/48945306.html.

command from Thelema founder Aleister Crowley allows the practitioner to eat virtually any food he or she desires.

In this appeal, the record clearly demonstrates that Paliotta has not alleged nor could he ever prove that a denial of kosher meals would be a "substantial burden" to the exercise of his religious beliefs. For that matter, Paliotta is silent as to how kosher meals can substitute for the express dietary dictates of the founder of Thelema or why the deprivation restricts his Thelemic worship in any manner whatsoever.

State asks the Court to compare Paliotta's non-specific, unauthenticated, self-serving allegations pertaining his requested relief with the proof offered by the inmate in *Warsoldier*. Warsoldier, a Cahuilla Native American, was an inmate at Adelanto Community Correctional Facility in California. He was found guilty of violating prison policies that regulated the length of inmate's hair that, for male inmates, was not permitted to be longer than 3 inches in length.

Warsoldier established, without challenge that his religious faith teaches that hair symbolizes and embodies the knowledge a person acquires during a lifetime and that hair may be cut only upon the death of a close relative. Warsoldier maintained his hair long because he believed that cutting his hair would cost him his wisdom and strength. He further stated without evidence to the contrary that if he were to cut his hair, he would be unable to join his ancestors in the afterlife and

that instead, the deceased members of his tribe will subject him to taunting and ridicule. Except upon his father's death in 1980, Warsoldier had not cut his hair since 1971. *Warsoldier*, 418 F.3d at 991-92.

This poignant and persuasive presentation is a far cry from the amorphous claims of "burden" offered by Paliotta. Where in Thelema history or liturgy is there any suggestion that a Thelema's failure to follow a specific diet will doom him or her to obloquy or rejection?

Although RLUIPA does not define "substantial burden," the Ninth Circuit has stated that a substantial burden is one that is "oppressive' to a 'significantly great' extent. . . . a 'substantial burden on 'religious exercise' must impose a significantly great restriction or onus upon such exercise." *Warsoldier*, 418 F.3d at 995 (quoting *San Jose Christian Coll. v. City of Morgan Hill*, 360 F.3d 1024, 1034 (9th Cir. 2004)). The burden must be more than an inconvenience. *Navajo Nation*, 479 F.3d at 1033 (internal quotations and citations omitted).

A review of case law demonstrates that "substantial burden" has been held as one that:

- "Impose[s] a significantly great restriction or onus upon such a [religious] exercise. *See Warsoldier*, 418 F.3d at 995;
- Pressures an inmate to abandon his religious beliefs. *See Shakur*, 514 F.3d at 889;

- Has a "tendency to inhibit" religious exercise. See Shebert v. Verner, 374
   U.S. 398 (1963);
- Puts "substantial pressure on an adherent to modify his behavior and violate his beliefs." *See Hobbie v. Unempl. App. Comm. of Florida,* 480 U.S. 136, 141 (1987); and,
- Coerces individuals into acting contrary to their religious beliefs. *See Lyng* v. *Northwest Indian Cemetery Protective Ass'n.*, 485 U.S. 439, 450 (1988).

A substantial burden must place more than an inconvenience on religious exercise; it must be of a nature that is coercive in nature such that it forces adherents to "forego religious precepts" or "pressure that mandates religious conduct." *See Midrash Sephardi, Inc. v. Town of Surfside,* 366 F.3d 1214, 1227 (11th Cir.2004).

Nothing in the record below even remotely suggests that Paliotta will experience any such burden if he is denied kosher meals. Having to eat standard prison meals will neither cause Paliotta to abandon his religious beliefs nor will eating prison food force Paliotta to modify his religious behavior. A denial of kosher meals will not prevent Paliotta "from engaging in [religious] conduct or having a religious experience." *See Navajo Nation*, 479 F.3d at 1033 (internal citations omitted).

Of importance, "[c]ourts are expected to apply RLUIPA's standard with due deference to the experience and expertise of prison and jail administrators in establishing necessary regulations and procedures to maintain good order, security and discipline, consistent with consideration of costs and limited resources." *Hartmann v. Cal. Dep't. of Corr.*, 707 F.3d 1114, 1124 (9th Cir. 2013) (internal quotation marks and citation omitted).

In recalling State's earlier concerns about inmates abusing dietary policies if Paliotta were granted the relief he seeks in this appeal it merits recalling that, "Under RLUIPA, [the plaintiff] bear[s] the initial burden of persuasion on whether [a][p]olicy 'substantially burdens' [his or her] 'exercise of religion.'" *Hartmann*, 707 F.3d at 1124 (citing 42 U.S.C. § 2000cc–2(b)). Thus, the court must begin by "identifying the 'religious exercise' allegedly impinged upon." *Greene*, 513 F.3d 982, 987 (9th Cir. 2008).

In this matter, there is no "religious exercise" at issue because "kosher" is not a religion. *See Guzzi* and *Starr, supra*. The religion before this Court is Thelema and the practice under scrutiny, kosher meals, is not based upon Thelema religious precepts or theology. Once again, Paliotta has failed to fulfill his burden of proof. He cannot establish that the mere denial of a kosher meal will "substantially burden" his practice of Thelema notwithstanding its precept

///

of exercising one's "Will" without restraint that is patently anathema to the prison experience.

# (3) Paliotta's Authorities Are Distinguishable

In his Replacement Opening Brief, Paliotta offers several authorities to ostensibly support his RLUIPA arguments. Upon closer review, these decisions either fail to offer the support he requires or are actually favorable to State.

For example, at page 22 of his Replacement Brief Paliotta cites *Anello v. Williams*, 2012 WL 2522280 (D. Or. March 20, 2012). In *Anello* the inmate had various personal property items confiscated that he claimed were religious (a prayer hat, prayer feather, etc.) and was restricted in his movements due to a disciplinary imposition. The *Anello* court found that Thelema encourages its members to develop their own spiritual discipline to thereby fulfill the fundamental dictate that Thelemic believers "Do what thou[] whilt." *Anello* at \*8.

The *Anello* court made several observations that are pertinent to this appeal as well. First, inmate Anello "[did] not provide[] any evidence of any particular religious rituals, exercises, or practices that he performs, much less any that were substantially burdened by defendants' confiscation of his property." *Id.* Also, Anello "[did not] identify that he missed any particular service, such as the powwow or other important religious event." *Id.* 

///

In contravention of Paliotta's attack upon the District Court's examination of the Thelemic religion, the court in *Anello* did precisely that when it stated: "A close reading of Anello's account of his complaints regarding this incident casts further doubt on the sincerity of his religious beliefs or that any of them were substantially burdened." *Anello* at \*9. The court correctly asked why and how did the property confiscation prevent or discourage Anello from engaging "in any religious practices."

Paliotta fails to advise this Court that in *Anello* it was determined that "Anello has failed to establish that any of his sincerely held beliefs were burdened in any way, much less that they were substantially burdened." *Anello* at \*10. The court summed up its rejection of Anello's RLUIPA claim in the same manner that this appeal should be denied:

Anello must do more than simply profess membership in various religious groups and possession of religious materials in order to establish that confiscation of those materials amounts to a substantial burden on his religious exercise. At most, Anello's claims regarding confiscation of his religious materials, which occurred during the course of an investigation, amounted to a temporary inconvenience on his ability to exercise his religion.

### Anello at \*10.

An Illinois prisoner was the subject of the lawsuit cited by Paliotta that is entitled *Grayson v. Schuler*, 666 F.3d 450 (7th Cir. 2012) which involved the Big Muddy Correctional Center's shearing of Grayson's dreadlocks that were alleged

to constitute a "security risk." *Grayson*, 666 F.3d at 452. Grayson stated he was not a Rastafarian (who were allowed to wear dreadlocks) but worshipped as an African Hebrew Israelite of Jerusalem – a religion that did not require by their faith to wear dreadlocks.

The *Grayson* court began its analysis of the issue by noting "[t]he case law indicates that a ban on long hair, including dreadlocks, even when motivated by sincere religious belief, would pass constitutional muster (citations omitted)." *Id.* But, Grayson prevailed not because of "sincerity" or a "substantial burden"; instead, the *Grayson* court concluded that the prison's conduct in cutting Grayson's dreadlocks arose from "a case of outright arbitrary discrimination rather than a failure merely to 'accommodate' religious rights." *Id.* at 453.

Other factors serve to demonstrate the vast difference between inmate Grayson and Paliotta. The *Grayson* court found that African Hebrews believed that the original Jews of the Old Testament were black and that black people were the descendants of those Jews. Thus, African Hebrews "venerate the Old Testament." *Id.* at 454. The court then examined portions of the Old Testament and found passages in Numbers and elsewhere that directed worshipers to avoid cutting one's hair: "there shall no razor come upon his head…[He] shall let the locks of the hair on his head grow long." *See also* The Book of Judges, 13;5 and 16:17 involving

36

///

Sampson who improvidently told Delilah that his strength would be lost if his hair were shorn. *Id*.

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